
NORTH CAROLINA ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL    
COMMISSION MINUTES 

JANUARY 13, 2010 
 
 

The following narrative and summary highlights action taken by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Commission at its meeting on January 13, 2010, beginning at 10:00 AM. The meeting was 
recorded and the disk is on file at the ABC Commission in the Legal Division. 
 
ROLL CALL 

 
Chairman Jonathan S. Williams, Commissioner J.D. Lyon and Commissioner Zander Guy were present at 
the meeting. 
 
 Please find an attached a copy of the statement that was read by Chairman Williams. 
 
Administrator Michael Herring presented the Commission with new guidelines for all Spirituous Liquor 
brokers and distiller representatives regarding food and meals given to employees or board members of 
local ABC boards. Such items have monetary value and providing such to any ABC employee or board 
member may be considered a violation of State and Federal Law. The Commission also withdrew 
previous memorandums allowing modest hospitality from industry at conferences and/or national ABC 
conventions. The Commission may grant exemptions to NCGS 18B-1116(a)(3) and in determining 
whether to grant an exemption, the Commission will consider the public welfare, the quantity and value 
of the articles involved, and established trade customs not contrary to the public interest. 
 
The Chairman asked the Commissioners if there was a motion to adopt the new Guidelines or any 
objection to issuing the new guidelines. Commissioner Lyon and Commission Guy both stated that they 
had no objections. The Chairman instructed Mr. Herring to send out the guidelines.  
 
Chairman Williams asked Mr. Fred Gregory, Chief Deputy Counsel, if the legal staff has provided the 
necessary correspondence to send to Mecklenburg County Commissioners and the Mecklenburg Alcohol 
Board Commission informing them of the outcome of the violation regarding gifts from a distiller. Mr. 
Gregory stated that the correspondence would be sent out Friday, January 15, 2010. 
 
The Chairman stated that he had spoken with Chairman Jennifer Roberts, Chairman of the Mecklenburg 
County Commissioners. He stated that she is aware of the violations and has received a copy of a 
violation report.  
 
The Chairman stated that the Commission will be taking a ten to fifteen minute break, then resume with 
the day’s regularly scheduled meeting.  
 
MINUTES OF DECEMBER 16, 2009, MEETING 

 
Chairman Williams made a motion to waive the reading of the minutes from the December 16, 2009, 
meeting into the record. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. Chairman Williams made a 
motion to approve the minutes from the December 16, 2009, meeting. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. 
So Ordered. 

 
 
 
 



2 

 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
As required by North Carolina General Statute 138A-15, Chairman Williams asked Commissioner Lyon 
and Commissioner Guy if there were any conflicts of interest or any conditions or facts that might create 
the appearance of a conflict of interest with respect to any matters on the Agenda. Chairman Williams, 
Commissioner Lyon and Commissioner Guy stated that they found no conflicts of interest.  

 
I. HEARING CASES – 48 
 
Chairman Williams stated the meeting would begin with the contested cases. 

 
Chief Counsel Fred Gregory stated that the first case to be heard was contested case #1, Billiards and 
Grill. Assistant Counsel K. Renee Cowick represented the Commission at the administrative hearing. 
Administrative Law Judge Selina M. Brooks heard the case and issued an order for prehearing statements 
to each party.  The permittee did not file prehearing statements, so the judge issued a second order. The 
permittee never filed the prehearing statements and Ms. Cowick filed a Motion for Sanctions. 
Administrative Law Judge Brooks granted Ms. Cowick’s motion and issued a decision. Mr. Timothy 
Morse, Assistant Counsel, asked the Commission to adopt the recommended decision of the 
Administrative Law Judge.  
 
Chairman Williams asked the Commissioners if they were ready to adopt the recommendation. 
Commissioner Guy made a motion to adopt the recommendation. Commissioner Lyon seconded that 
motion. So Ordered. 
 
The next contested case was case #2, El Rincon Caliente. There was no one present at the meeting. Mr. 
Morse stated that Ms. Cowick represented the Commission at the hearing. Administrative Law Judge 
Selina M. Brooks heard the case. The Administrative Law Judge issued an order for prehearing 
statements to each party. The permittee did not file prehearing statements, so the judge issued a second 
order for prehearing statements. The permittee did not file prehearing statements and Ms. Cowick filed a   
Motion for Sanctions. Administrative Law Judge Brooks granted Ms. Cowick’s motion and issued a 
decision. Mr. Morse asked the Commission to adopt the recommended decision of the Administrative 
Law Judge.  
 
Chairman Williams asked the Commissioners if they were prepared to accept the recommended decision 
of the Administrative Law Judge, after reviewing the record. Commissioner Guy made a motion to accept 
the recommended decision. Seconded by Chairman Williams. So Ordered. 
 
The next contested case was #3, Sahara Restaurant and Lounge. There was no one present at the meeting. 
Mr. Morse stated the Ms. Cowick represented the Commission at the hearing. Administrative Law Judge 
J. Randall May heard the case. The Administrative Law Judge issued an Order for Prehearing Statements 
to each party. The permittee did not file prehearing statements, so the judge issued a second order for 
prehearing statements. The permittee did not file respond and Ms. Cowick filed a Motion for Sanctions. 
Administrative Law Judge May granted Ms. Cowick’s motion. Mr. Morse asked the Commission to adopt 
the recommended decision of the Administrative Law Judge. 
 
Chairman Williams asked the Commissioners if they were prepared to accept the recommended decision 
of the Administrative Law Judge, after reviewing the record. Commissioner Lyon made a motion to 
accept the recommended decision. Seconded by Chairman Guy. So Ordered. 
 



3 

 

Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Luke Armitage, owner of hearing case #5, Bistro Forty Two, was 
present to speak on behalf of his establishment. Mr. Armitage stated that he took the violation very 
seriously and made changes since the violation. The business has been opened for ten months. 
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,200.00 to $600.00, upon completion of  
RASP Class. Seconded by Commissioner Guy. So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Mr. Assaad Khoury, owner of hearing case #14, Pantry Shop 2, was 
present to speak on behalf of his business. Mr. Khoury stated that he didn’t take the violation lightly. He 
told the Commission that when High Point Police Detective Nordstrom visited the location neither he nor 
the manager was there. He had spoken with Detective Nordstrom and offered to break the locked office 
door to allow him to gain entrance. As a matter of store policy the office door was locked when the 
manager was not there. The other option that Mr. Khoury gave Detective Nordstrom was for him to wait 
there at the store and he would be there with the key. Mr. Khoury stated that Detective Nordstrom told 
him that he couldn’t stay, he had to leave.  
 
Mr. Khoury stated he called Detective Nordstrom and told him that he would put the keys to the office in 
a sealed envelope. If he came to the store to do an inspection and the manager was not there, then the 
clerk could open the envelope and get the key to open the office.  
 
Chairman Williams asked the Commissioners if they wanted to make a motion for a Written Warning. 
Commissioner Guy and Commissioner Lyon both agreed. Chairman Williams stated that a Written 
Warning would be issued to the permittee. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Ms. Yoon Joo Jung, owner of hearing case #12, Little Tokyo Japanese 
Restaurant, was present to speak on behalf of her establishment. Ms. Jung told the Commission that she 
didn’t have a lot of experience operating a restaurant. She went on to state that she has taken ABC 
Education classes. 
 
Chairman Williams asked Ms. Jung how many employees did she have. Ms. Jung stated that she had 
three kitchen staff and four waitresses. 
 
Chairman Williams discussed a reduction of the penalty with the other two Commissioners. Chairman 
Williams stated that he and the Commissioners were in agreement and made a motion to reduce the 
penalty from $1,200.00 to $600.00, upon completion of RASP Class. 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that Ms. Nikki Hang, owner of hearing case #24, Apple Tree Grocery, was 
present to speak on behalf of her establishment. She stated that her employee sold alcohol to the underage 
person Ms. Hang went on to state that she had taken an ABC Education class. She asked the Commission 
for some leniency.   
 
Chairman Williams stated that based on prior violations at the location, her employees were not getting 
the importance of checking identification and that it was her responsibility as their employer to enforce 
that. After discussing it with both Commissioners, Chairman Williams stated that the Commission was 
not going to reduce the fine. The penalty would stand as agreed upon. 
 
The General Manager of hearing case #13, Neighborhood Theatre, was present to speak on behalf of the 
business. 
 



4 

 

Chairman Williams stated that per the violation report, drug paraphernalia was found in the employee 
area and several desks, their desks including the desk of the general manager. 
 
The general manager stated that they took the violations very seriously and have taken necessary steps to 
make changes. Routine searches now take place. Because of the type of venue, the employees may have 
to seize drug paraphernalia from patrons and those items should have gone into the trash; however, some 
of them ended up in desks.  
 
Commissioner Lyon asked Mr. Gregory if there was any leniency in the fine. Mr. Gregory stated that 
there was not. Commissioner Lyon complimented the permittee on his honesty. 
 
After some discussion with Commissioner Lyon and Commission Guy, Chairman Williams stated that 
given the fact that the General Manager acknowledged and accepted his role in the violation the penalty 
would be reduced from $4,000.00 to $2,500.00, upon the condition that all employee’s attend a RASP 
Class.  
 
Chairman Williams made a motion to approve the remaining offers in compromises, with the exception of 
previously ratified cases. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
III. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Chief Counsel Gregory stated that attorney David Cannon, was present to speak regarding a Request for 
Exemption for Morrisville Hotel Associates, L.P. One of the limited partners had an interest in 
Warsteiner, a German Brewery. Mr. Cannon stated that in reviewing the partnership agreement; they felt 
that the tiedhouse issue may not apply, but wanted to make sure. There was a time issue with the hotel 
being constructed and the Commission not meeting for several months. After speaking with Mr. Gregory, 
they submitted the request. They applied for permits and temporary permits were issued on November 16, 
2009. 
 
Chairman Williams stated it was his understanding that Warsteiner would never be sold in the hotel. Mr. 
Cannon stated that was correct. 
 
Chairman Williams asked Commission Guy and Commissioner Lyon if they had any questions or 
concerns. Chairman Williams asked the Commissioners if they were comfortable with granting the 
exemption. Commissioner Lyon made a motion to grant the exemption. Seconded by Commission Guy. 
So Ordered.  
 
II. ABC STORE LOCATION- CONCORD ABC STORE 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the proposed location of an ABC 
Store in Cabarrus County. On December 9, 2009, the Commission received a letter from Larry Mullis, 
Supervisor of the Concord ABC Board, requesting approval to move its present ABC Store located at 
2210 Roxie Street NE in Northlite Commons 11 Shopping Center in Kannapolis, North Carolina to a 
2228 Roxie Street NE, Kannapolis North Carolina, only a few doors down in the same shopping center. 
On December 14, 2009, ALE Agent D.J. Hales began an investigation and found that the current site is 
approximately 3,000 square feet. 
 
The Northlite Commons II Shopping Center is owned by Northlite Commons II, LLC at 16105 Whitecap 
Lane, Huntington Beach, California.  

 



5 

 

The investigation found there were no financial conflicts of interest between the property owners and the 
Concord ABC Board. 

 
The nearest church is All Saints Parish Episcopal Church and is located 2.3 miles from the proposed 
location. 

 
The nearest school is Forest Park Elementary and is located 1.4 miles from the proposed location. 

 
Pursuant to ABC Commission Rules, Notice of Intent was properly posted on December 9, 2009, in 
compliance with the ABC Commission’s 30-day requirement. 

 
There were no objections to the location. 

 
Mr. Herring recommended that the Commission approve the new location. 

 
Commissioner Guy made a motion to approve the location. Seconded by Chairman Williams. So Ordered. 
 
Administrator Michael Herring requested that the Commission approve new Commission dates. 
Commissioner Lyon stated that April 15, 2010 and May 12, 2010 were the new dates for the upcoming 
Commission meetings.  
 
 

With no further business, the meeting adjourned. 
 
 
_______________________________________      
Jonathan S. Williams, Chairman 
N.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 

 
Respectfully submitted by 

 
 
_______________________________________ 
Tiffany Goodson, Legal Division 
 


